FILED

AUG 26 1983

SID J. WHITE
CLERK SUPREME COURT
[Signature]
Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND LEON KOON,)
)
 Petitioner/Appellant,)
)
 vs)
)
 STATE OF FLORIDA,)
)
 Respondent/Appellee)

Case No. 63,322

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE
TWENTIETH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT OF THE
STATE OF FLORIDA IN AND FOR COLLIER COUNTY

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

THOMAS S. BIGGS, JR.
Suite 202, Congress Center
849 7th Avenue, South
Naples, Florida 33940
(813) 261-0275
Attorney for Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This is a mandatory appeal per Fla. R. App. P. 9.030 (a)(1) (A)(i) and §921.141(4), Fla. Stat. (1981) by Raymond Leon Koon, from a judgment of the Circuit Court of the Twentieth Judicial Circuit of Florida. (R 138)

Appellant was first indicted along with his nephew, Joseph Lester Koon, on October 5, 1981 by the United States of America and tried in the United States District Court, Southern District of Florida, on November 18, 1981, (State's Exb. 1 October 5, 1982 Hearing; R 195-196) before the Honorable William M. Hoeverler, United States District Judge. The charges material here were:

Count I: Conspiracy to threaten a citizen of the United States of America of the right and privilege to be a witness in a judicial proceeding resulting in the death of Joseph Dino on or about November 21, 1979 in violation of 18 U.S.C. 241,

Count II: Endeavoring by force and violence to intimidate a witness, Joseph Dino, in a Court of the United States, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 1503 and 2.

The appellant, on November 19, 1981 changed his plea to guilty. (Excerpt of Proceedings, page 37) Judge Hoeverler on December 31, 1981, entered judgment accordingly and sentenced the appellant to seventy five years on Count I and five years on Count II, to run consecutively. (State's Exb. 1, October 5, 1982 Hearing; R 195-196)

Appellant was indicted by the State of Florida on February

16, 1982 charging him with murder in the first degree of one Joseph Dino on or about November 21, 1979, by shooting him with a fire arm in violation of §782.04(1)(a) Fla. Stat. (1981) (R 1). The jury returned a verdict of guilty of first degree murder (R 126) and rendered an advisory sentence of death on November 22, 1982 (R 130). The Honorable Charles T. Carlton, Circuit Judge, entered judgment on January 28, 1983 (R 138) and sentenced the appellant to be executed in accordance with the laws of the State of Florida (R 140).

The facts are alleged to be that on November 21, 1979, Joseph Dino was abducted in a Big Daddy's parking lot, located on West 49th Street in Hialeah, Florida. He was allegedly placed in a red Plymouth Duster, owned by Joseph Lester Koon, and driven west on the Tamiami Trail, U.S. 41, into Collier County, Florida. He was then taken to a rock pit known as Burn's Lake, where he was allegedly shot and killed.

Additional facts pertinent to the case will be set out along with each individual issue presented herein.

The references above and throughout this brief are:

Record on Appeal: (R _____)

Appendix (A _____)

Exhibit: (State's Exb _____)

Excerpt of Proceedings in United States District Court:

(Excerpt of Proceedings) (These proceedings are those referred to and attached to Request for Judicial Notice of Excerpt of Proceedings on November 19, 1981 in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida, dated August 11, 1983).

The appendix pages are numbered at the bottom center of the page.

ARGUMENT

I. DOUBLE JEOPARDY

FILED
DEC 1 1982
CLERK, SUPREME COURT
By _____
Chief Deputy Clerk

Issue: Did the indictment and retrial of appellant for the murder of Joseph Dino violate United States Constitutional guarantee against Double Jeopardy?

Appellant moved to dismiss the State's charges against him on the grounds that the State prosecution after the Federal prosecution violated the Double Jeopardy clauses of the United States and Florida Constitutions (R 47). The motion was denied by the trial court (R 214).

The trial attorney for appellant filed a motion for a writ of prohibition with this court asking for a writ prohibiting the trial of the cause based on the Doctrine of Double Jeopardy (R 114 et seq.) The petition was denied without hearing by order dated November 15, 1982 (R 131).

Appellant was indicted by the United States in 1981, charging that he conspired with another to injure, oppress, threaten and intimidate Joseph Dino, resulting in the death of Joseph Dino. A second count in the indictment charged him with endeavoring through the use of force and violence to influence, intimidate and impede Joseph Dino as a witness in another Federal prosecution (State's Exb. 1, October 5, 1982 Hearing). Appellant was brought to trial on that indictment. Neil G. Taylor, Assistant United States Attorney, was prosecutor in that trial. During the course of the

trial on November 19, 1979, appellant decided to change his plea to those charges from not guilty to guilty. In the colloquy between the court and appellant, prior to acceptance of the plea, appellant was required to admit to killing Joseph Dino (Excerpt of Proceedings, page 27-28) as follows:

Q Listen to me, please sir. Did you take Joseph Dino out to the rockpit that these gentlemen have talked about and shoot him with a shotgun, and kill him?

A I'm guilty.

Q Did you do that?

A I'm guilty, your Honor, yes.

Q Well, is your answer to that yes?

A Yes.

Q You did do that?

A I'm guilty, yes.

Q You are guilty of that charge?

A Yes.

Q And the same charge is made in Count Two, that you intimidated Joseph Dino because he was going to testify against you, and you killed him. Did you do that?

A Yes, sir.

Based upon his plea, he was found guilty and sentenced to seventy five years imprisonment as to the First Count and five years as to the Second Count, with the sentences to run consecutively. Sentence was pronounced on December 30, 1981 (State's

Exb. 1, October 5, 1982 Hearing).

Thereafter, on February 16, 1982, appellant was indicted in Collier County, Florida for the murder of Joseph Dino, the same person he had been convicted of killing in the Federal prosecution (R 1). On March 4, 1982, Neil G. Taylor, Assistant United States Attorney, was appointed to prosecute the State charge (R 13). Appellant was arraigned on the State indictment on March 10, 1982 and plead not guilty.

Agent Klare, a United States Custom Officer, was the lead agent in the investigation of the Federal charges and was indentified as the lead investigator with respect to the State charges. The State sought to have him excepted from the witness exclusionary rule at the trial under Spencer vs State, 133 So. 2nd 729 (Fla. 1961) (R553-554) (A 14-15).

In response to appellant's request for disclosure (R 7-8), the State listed a number of persons, which might have information relevant to the offense or to any defense. This list contained the names of fourteen people not related to the appellant or not a member of a law enforcement agency. Of these fourteen persons, the address given for nine of them was in care of Special Agent Frederick Klare. It was thus necessary for the defense to go through the federal agent in order to make contact with these people.

Assistant United States Attorney Neil G. Taylor prosecuted the State charges in the trial court. Among other things, he argued the pretrial issues and examined all witnesses on behalf of the State at the hearing before the trial court on October 5, 1982, as well as during the remainder of the trial of appellant through

the date upon which appellant was sentenced to death. He conducted the voir dire of the jury panel (R 292-534); made the opening statement on behalf of the State (R 556-561); presented the State's witnesses and cross examined the defense witnesses (R 565-1059) (except for four witnesses, who were presented by an Assistant State Attorney, whose testimony in total amounted to only twenty seven pages of the four hundred and ninety two pages of testimony in the trial transcript); made closing argument on behalf of the State (R 1077-1091, 1126-1127); and argued all issues on behalf of the State during the trial. During the course of the trial, he on behalf of the office of the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, granted immunity to two witnesses, with respect to their testimony (R 922, 937-938) (A 23, 28-29).

During the sentencing phase of the trial, he argued all issues before the court; made opening statement on behalf of the State; presented the State's evidence; and made closing argument on behalf of the State (R 1154-1197),

At sentence hearing, at which appellant was sentenced to death, Assistant United States Attorney, Neil G. Taylor, argued on behalf of the State and immediately after sentence was pronounced, representing the office of the United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida, while the hearing was still in session, delivered to appellant, a copy of a motion to relinquish custody from the Federal authorities to the State authorities so that the State sentence of death could be executed and delivered an order of the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida transferring custody of appellant to

the State authorities for execution of the State's sentence (R 1212-1225).

Appellant's trial in the circuit court, Twentieth Judicial Circuit, Collier County, Florida was a retrial for the same crime (as argued by the State at the trial (R 548) (A 13)) to which he plead guilty and was convicted in the Federal court. The trial of the case was dominated by Assistant United States Attorney Taylor; Taylor, not only represented the State in the trial but at the same time, represented the Office of the Assistant United States Attorney for the Southern District of Florida. The investigation of the State charges was led by Federal Agent Klare. The Office of United States Attorney, not satisfied with the eighty year sentence assessed by the United States District Court, seized upon another forum to try the same crime for which appellant had been sentenced to eighty years in prison in order to obtain a harsher sentence than that meted out by the United States District Court.

The Fifth Amendment to the Constitution of the United States provides in pertinent part:

"...nor shall any person be subject for the same offence to be twice put in jeopardy of life or limb;..."

The Fourteenth Amendment provides:

"...nor shall any State deprive any person of life, liberty, or property, without due process of law;..."

Article I, Section 9 of the Constitution of the State of Florida provides that no person shall be deprived of life, liberty or property without due process of law, or be twice put in jeopardy for the same offense.

Since Benton vs Maryland, 395 U.S. 784, 23 L Ed 2nd 707, 89 S Ct. 2056 (1969) it is quite clear that both the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendments to the Constitution of the United States guarantees each citizen that he shall not be twice put in jeopardy with respect to the same crime or offense, either by State authorities or by the United States Government. Thus, neither the United States nor the State of Florida could have prosecuted each of these actions.

This court has recently declined to modify its dual sovereignty doctrine in Booth vs State, reported at page 197, The Florida Law Weekly, June 10, 1983. The court recognized that the dual sovereignty doctrine was created by this court. This court should not allow its doctrine to be used as a cloak of respectability by the Federal Government to do what it could not do under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. In Bartkus vs Illinois, 359 U.S. 121, 3 L Ed 2nd 684, 70 S Ct 676, Reh Den 360 U.S. 907, 3 L Ed 2nd, 1258 79 S Ct 1283 (1959), the dissent by Brennan, J. joined by Warren, Ch. J. and Douglas, J. specifically condemned the practice employed in this case (with substantially less Federal involvement than in this instance), finding that the State prosecution was so dominated by Federal officers as to be, in actuality, a second Federal prosecution. The majority in that case while finding that the conduct of Federal authorities was significantly less than in this case, at least by inference, condemned the same practice.

In this case, the United States Attorney entered the prosecution from the very beginning. It is clear that the prosecution and the investigation of the instant case were controlled by the

Federal Government and that Assistant United States Attorney, Neil G. Taylor, represented the Federal Government in the trial of the matter. The transfer of custody pre-engineered by the Assistant United States Attorney, so that appellant could be executed, at the sentence hearing where he acted ostensibly for the State and in his role as Assistant United States Attorney adds validity to the fact that the predominant prosecutorial interests involved were the Federal authority's. Participation by State authorities was pro forma and minimal. The State prosecution was a sham to veil actions by the Federal authorities to evade constitutional proscription.

It is clear that the State and Federal interests were substantially similar. The gravamen of the Federal indictment was that appellant violated the civil rights of Joseph Dino by killing him (State's Exb. 1, October 5th hearing); while the indictment by the State of Florida charged the appellant with the murder of Joseph Dino (R 1). Further, the sentence in the Federal trial was for eighty years (State's Exb. 1, October 5th hearing) while the possible sentence in the State trial for a capital felony is life, or death by execution. Essentially, an eighty year sentence for a fifty year old man, as is appellant, is a life sentence. Therefore, the penalties are substantially the same.

This court should not allow the Federal authorities to use the courts of the State to accomplish aims which are illegal and prohibited to it under the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution. The court should not put its seal of approval on this action. It should not invoke its doctrine of dual sovereignty in this action. It should not allow its doctrine of dual sovereignty

to be utilized by the Federal government to accomplish its illegal aims. This court should find that the trial in the State court in this case constitutes double jeopardy prohibited by the United States Constitution and dismiss the charges herein against appellant.

II. MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE

Issue: Did the court err in denying appellant's motion for continuance based on the failure to receive reports of court appointed physicians prior to trial?

Defendant filed his motion for appointment of expert for psychiatric examination (R 67). Pursuant to that motion, the court appointed Drs. Wald, Lombillo and Collins to examine the appellant and to render written reports to the court and to the attorneys. The doctors were ordered to evaluate the appellant to determine his mental competency and in paragraph 4 of said order were asked to determine

"...whether there was an absence of an exercise of independent judgment and volition on the part of the accused in consuming an intoxicant at the time of the unlawful act...." (R 79)

By letter dated October 18, 1982, Dr. Wald expressed a need for examination by neurologists and psychologists (R 90) (A 1). Dr. Ertag, a neurologist, was appointed to examine the appellant (R 91).

On November 15th, the day before the trial, appellant moved

for continuance because results of the examination ordered by the court had not been received and that even if such results were received during the trial, appellant's counsel would not have sufficient time to analyze the contents of the reports and formulate a plan for the implementation of the results of the examination (R 112).

As the court convened the next day, for the trial of the case, appellant's motion for continuance was argued to the court (R 286-290) (A 6-10). At that time, Dr. Lombillo's report had been received the night before. Dr. Collins' report had also been received and he opined that appellant was competent to stand trial. He diagnosed appellant as "acute and chronic alcoholism and anti-social personality". He did not address himself to the question of impairment of judgment because of intoxication at the time of the alleged act, as required by the court's order nor did he refer to the neurological examination. Dr. Lombillo indicated "...it is possible that through excessive and long continued use of intoxicants, his judgment might have been impaired and this would have an influence on his actions...." Dr. Lombillo stated that he did not have the results of the neurological evaluation and that "...I feel that this evaluation should be an integral part of his complete evaluation...." He did not render a diagnosis. Dr. Wald's report was not received until several days into the trial. It is dated November 17, 1982. Dr. Wald found the appellant competent to stand trial but did not address himself to the question whether or not appellant's judgment was impaired by consumption of an intoxicant at the time of the unlawful act, as ordered by the court.

His diagnosis was alcoholism and possible mild organic brain syndrome secondary to excessive alcoholism. Dr. Ertag's report was not received during the course of the trial.

On the day of the alleged murder, appellant and two others bought three fifths of liquor and a couple of six-packs of beer, all consumed before the day was out (R 760). In addition, on the way home, appellant had two beers (R 764). At the time appellant and J.L. Koon were alleged to have left home to meet the deceased, Joseph Dino, they were both feeling "really high" (R 767).

Witness George Burton, appellant's step-son, testified that appellant drinks "very lot" and that he was drinking that morning and after he came home from work in the evening; that he was pretty drunk and staggering at the time appellant left home in the company of J.L. Koon (When appellant and J.L. Koon were alleged to have gone to meet the deceased, Joseph Dino) (R 931-932) (A 25-26).

Appellant's wife, Peggy Koon, testified that appellant had drunk at least a quart of whiskey a day for thirteen years, sometimes supplemented by a couple of half pints and maybe a few beers (R 1005) (A 44). About five years prior to trial, under a threat of divorce, appellant quit drinking for about four months and then started back again, "except more" (R 1008); that he kept a quart of whiskey in his truck and another on the end of the drain board; that she met him at the intersection of Krome Avenue and Highway 41 (the same evening and after he is alleged to have killed Joseph Dino); that she had never seen him drunker than he was at that time; he was weaving when he walked, his speech was slurry and he was mumbling to himself (R 1008-1009) (A 47-48). She further testified

that when he is drunk, he repeats himself and doesn't remember things and related three specific examples of loss of memory (R 1005-1007) (A 44-46).

Under Florida Law, voluntary intoxication is not insanity and thus not a complete defense to homicide, however, it is a defense available to negate specific intent "...such as the element of premeditation essential in first degree murder...."

Cirack vs State, 201 So. 2nd 706, 709 (Fla. 1967) In Garner vs State, 28 Fla. 113, 9 So. 835 (1891) the court stated at page 845 of the Southern Reporter:

"Whenever, however, a specific or particular intent is an essential or constituent element of the offense, intoxication, though voluntary, becomes a matter for consideration, or is relevant evidence, with reference to the capacity or ability of the accused to form or entertain the particular intent, or upon the question whether the accused was in such a condition of mind as to form a premeditated design. Where a party is too drunk to entertain or be capable of forming the essential particular intent, such intent can, of course, not exist, and no offense, of which such intent is a necessary ingredient, can be perpetrated...."

* * *

"...But where murder is divided by statute into two degrees, and to constitute it in the first degree there must be the specific intent to take life, this specific intent does not in fact exist; and the murder is not in this degree where one, not meaning to commit a homicide, becomes so drunk as to be incapable of intending to do it, and then, in this condition, kills a man. In such case the court holds that the offense of murder is only in the second degree" (p. 845)

Therefore, voluntary intoxication is available as a defense to the issue of intent required by a charge of murder in the first degree.

The court had previously determined that it was necessary to have expert evaluation with respect to intoxication and its affect on impairment of appellant's ability to form the intent necessary to justify a finding of murder in the first degree. The court had also determined that a neurological examination was necessary and had appointed Dr. Ertag for that purpose. Some-time between filing appellant's motion for continuance and the commencement of the trial the following morning, the written reports of Dr. Collins and Dr. Lombillo were delivered. Dr. Collins, while finding appellant competent did not address himself to the issue addressed in the court's order as stated above and presented here. Dr. Lombillo, while finding him competent to stand trial, reported that it was possible through excessive and long continued use of intoxicants, his judgment might have been impaired and this would have an influence on his actions. He also stated that the neurological evaluation should be an integral part of his evaluation of appellant.

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