IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

RAYMOND KOON,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 63,322

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

FILED

OCT 31 1993

SID J. WHITE CLERK SUPREME COURT

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

JIM SMITH ATTORNEY GENERAL

FRANK LESTER ADAMS, III Assistant Attorney General 1313 Tampa Street, Suite 804 Park Trammell Building Tampa, Florida 33602 (813) 272-2670

/gs

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

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE APPELLANT WAS NOT PLACED TWICE IN JEOPARDY BY HIS MURDER CONVICTION.

The Appellant claims that his conviction in the Federal District Court of violating 18 U.S.C. §241, by virtue of the Fifth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article I, section 9 of the Florida Constitution, should have barred his conviction and sentence for First Degree Murder by a Florida state court. This contention is unfounded.

As far back as 1922, the United States Supreme Court held that there is no double jeopardy bar to successive state and federal prosecutions and punishments for the same criminal conduct. <u>United States v. Lanza</u>, 260 U.S. 377, 43 S.Ct. 141, 67 L.Ed. 314 (1922). This continues to be the law in the federal system, (see e.g., <u>United States v. Hayes</u>, 589 F.2d 811 (5th Cir. 1979)) as well as the law in Florida. <u>Booth v. State</u>, 436 So.2d 36 (Fla. 1983).

The fact that the Appellant was the subject of successive federal and state prosecution for the murder of Joseph Dino (R 1) was perfectly legal and, as this court pointed out in <u>Booth</u>, supra, not in violation of the double jeopardy clauses of either the State or Federal Constitution.

-4-

ISSUE II

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING APPELLANT'S MOTION FOR CONTINUANCE.

Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.190(g)(2) provides that "The court on motion of the State or a defendant or upon its own motion may in its discretion for good cause shown grant a continuance."

"In reviewing discretionary rulings, the test for the appellate court is whether the trial court abused its discretion." <u>Crum v. State</u>, 398 So.2d 810, 811 (Fla. 1981). The Appellant argues that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his motion for a second continuance filed the day before trial. (R 112)

On October 8, 1982, five weeks before the trial was scheduled, the trial court granted a defense motion for a thirty (30) day continuance in order to give the defense more time to run further psychological and physiological tests on the Appellant. (R 186, 272) Although the trial court believed the tests requested by the defense should have been done "several months ago" (R 186), he granted the continuance anyway.

On the morning of trial, November 16, 1982, the defense argued for another continuance based upon the fact that he had not yet received all of the results of the further examinations. (R 287-288) As the Appellant has pointed out in his brief, his defense was Voluntary Intoxication. The defense had, at the least, all of the time from Appellant's indictment for First

-5-

Degree Murder on February 16, 1982 (R. 1) until the time of trial eleven months later to prepare its defense. The time period included the five week continuance granted at the last minute by the trial judge on October 8, 1982.

Under the cicumstances of this case it can hardly be said that the trial court abused its discretion or prejudiced the defense by declining to grant another continuance.

ISSUE III

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN EXAMINING FOR CAUSE JUROR ALICE ASTLING.

Appellant next claims that the lower court erred in excusing for cause juror Alice Astling. The record supports the lower court's action. When asked if she could consider rendering the imposition of the death penalty, she replied that ". . . I wouldn't want that responsibility." (R 475) The prosecutor then asked:

> ". . .are you reconcilably [sic] commited to vote against the death penalty regardless of the circumstances?" (R. 475)

The juror noted that she had been thinking about it and answered:

"Right now, I don't think I could." (R. 475)

Further questioning ensued:

"MR. TAYLOR: Any philosophical or moral problem with standing in judgment of your fellow man?

MRS. ASTLING: Some." (R. 478)

When the prosecutor moved to excuse her and Appellant objected, the court questioned the juror:

"THE COURT: All right. In the second phase of the trial, would that mean regardless of facts and circumstances involved in this case, that you are, so to speak, going to say or recommend or vote to recommend to the Court that the death penalty not be imposed? (R. 482)

MRS. ASTLING: Yes, I think that's --

THE COURT: So that would be your answer in the second phase? You would almost automatically recommend to me through your vote that it should be imposed? Is
that right?
MRS. ASTLING: It would influence me,
yes." (R 484)

She was then excused without further objection or complaint by Appellant. (R 484) Since Appellant made no further attempt to rehabilitate the prospective juror as qualified, he presumably agreed with the trial court that excusal was appropriate. Appellant may not acquiesce to a ruling and then complain on appeal. Lucas v. State, 376 So.2d 1149. (Fla. 1979)

This Court has in the past ruled that the failure of an accused to timely and properly object prior to a juror's excusal will preclude appellate review. <u>Maggard v. State</u>, 399 So.2d 973 (Fla. 1981); <u>Rose v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 521 (Fla. 1982).

-8-

ISSUE IV

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN PERMITTING THE APPELLANT'S WIFE TO TESTIFY AGAINST HIM.

Section 90.507, Florida Statutes (1981) provides that:

A person who has a privilege against the disclosure of a confidential matter or communication waives the privilege if he . . . voluntarily discloses or makes the communication when he does not have a reasonable expectation of privacy, or consents to disclosure of, any significant part of he matter or communication.

In <u>Donaldson v. State</u>, 369 So.2d 691 (Fla. 1st DCA 1979), the court had occasion to consider the Husband-Wife privilege. In that case, the court opined that "although confidential communication between husband and wife are privileged, the mere admission of such communication at trial is not reversible error unless there is a showing that but for the admission of such evidence a different result would have been reached at the trial. <u>Cornelius v. State</u>, 49 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1950) . . . His wife's testimony in that respect was merely cumulative and as such is not grounds for reversal on appeal where there is other competent substantial evidence in the record sufficient to sustain the verdict of guilt. <u>Montalvo v. State</u>, 154 So.2d 713 (Fla. 3d DCA 1963); <u>Urga v. State</u>, 155 So.2d 719 (Fla.2d DCA 1963)." <u>Id</u>. at 694.

Section 90.507 when applied to the facts of this case dissolves any Husband-Wife privilege the Appellant may have legitimately asserted at trial. The testimony at trial reveals

-9-

that the Appellant confessed to murdering Joe Dino to his mother-in-law, Lois Purvis, (R 915-917); to George Burton (R 927-929); and to Joseph Lester Koon (R 783).

These disclosures were voluntarily made under circumstances bereft of any reasonable expectation of privacy. In <u>Katz v.</u> <u>United States</u>, 387 U.S. 347, 19 L.Ed.2d 576, 88 S.Ct. 507 (1967), Mr. Justice Harlan in his concurring opinion found a twofold requirement before one could be said to have a "reasonale expectation of privacy." "First, that a person have exhibited an actual (subjective) expectation of privacy and, second, that the expectation be one that society is prepared to recognize as reasonable." 387 U.S. at 361, 19 L.Ed.2d at 588.

Even assuming the Appellant met the first of these two requirements under <u>Katz</u> when he made his confess**X** ion to his mother-in-law, his step-son and nephew, he didn't meet the second. A murder confession to these types of people is not one society will agree the murderer may reasonably expect to be kept private and free from disclosure.

As a result, under Section 90.507, the Appellant by his two confessions waived his right o claim the Husband-Wife privilege under Section 90.509.

Even assuming arguendo that he could legitimately raise the claim of privilege, there has been no showing that but for the testimony of his wife a different result would have been reached at trial. See <u>Donaldson v. State</u>, supra. <u>Sub judice</u>, there was

-10-

substantial competent evidence adduced at trial to sustain the verdict regardless of the wife's testimony.

If there was error in admitting the testimony of the Appellant's wife, which there was not, such error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt in the light of the other substantial evidence introduced at trial. Section 924.33, Florida Statutes (1982)

ISSUE V

THE ADEQUACY OF REPRESENTATION OF COUNSEL MAY NOT BE RAISED FOR THE FIRST TIME ON DIRECT APPEAL.

"The adequacy of representation of counsel [may] not be raised for the first time on direct appeal. <u>State v. Barber</u>, 301 So.2d 7 (Fla. 1974). This rule is applicable to capital cases. <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 351 So.2d 948 (Fla. 1977), <u>cert. denied</u>, 435 U.S. 1004 (1978)." <u>Perri v. State</u>, <u>So.2d</u> (Fla. 1983), 8 F.L.W. 398 Case No. 57,142, opinion filed September 29, 1983.

Those claims Appellant is making in this issue should have been brought before the trial court by way of a motion for post-conviction relief prsuant to Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.850.

ISSUE VI

THE TRIAL COURT'S REFUSAL TO ALLOW APPELLANT TO REOPEN HIS CASE CONSTITUTED A PROPER EXER-CISE OF THAT COURT'S DISCRETION.

After Appellant discharged his attorney and elected to represent himself, the trial court asked if Appellant desired to make his own final argument. Appellant replied as follows:

> "How about me just taking over and starting from the beginning like I get for him to do? Witness out there he didn't call, very important eyewitness." (R. 1074)

Prior to making his closing argument, Appellant requested two weeks postponement to get his "stuff" together and alleged that defense counsel had not properly presented his case. (R. 1091) Appellant now explains that these statements constituted a request to reopen his case to present additional evidence. Appellant also contends that the trial court's denial of this request constitutes reversible error.

The question of whether or not a party is entitled to reopen its case to present additional evidence is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's ruling on such a matter should not be disturbed on appeal absent a clear showing of abuse of discretion. <u>Stewart v. State</u>, 420 So.2d 862 (Fla. 1982); <u>Pitts v. State</u>, 195 So.2d 104 (Fla. 1966). The record <u>sub judice</u> does not support Appellant's contention that the trial court abused its discretion in denying his request to reopen. The record reflects that Appellant was disturbed

-13-

because his trial counsel had not called an eyewitness to the kidnapping to describe who was there. (R. 1983) Appellant does not give the court the name of the witness, indicate whether or not his witness is available, or divulge the substance of the testimony he is expected to give. In other words, nothing in this record suggests that an uncalled eyewitness $\frac{1}{}$ even existed.

Ordinarily an appellate court cannot consider the propriety of the trial court's ruling excluding testimony where the defense does not proffer to show what the excluded testimony would have been. Lowery v. State, 402 So.2d 1287 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981); Whitted v, State, 362 So.2d 688 (Fla. 1978); Gaines v. State, 244 So.2d 478 (Fla. 4th DCA 1970). Appellee would submit that Appellant's failure to proffer the evidence he hoped to adduce precludes review of this issue. Certainly, based on the highly speculative information given to the trial court or the lack thereof, it cannot be said that the trial court abused its discretion in refusing to allow Appellant to reopen his case. <u>Compare Steffanos v. State</u>, 80 Fla. 309, 86 So. 204 (Fla. 1920).

Appellant suggests in his brief that the trial court had a duty to inquire further into the nature of the evidence Appellant desired to present citing, Sylvia v. State, 210 So.2d 286 (Fla.

-14-

 $[\]frac{1}{\text{Joring}}$ its case in chief, the State presented the testimony of Jose Fernandez, who had observed the victim's abduction. (R. 640-656) Witness Fernandez was able to give only a general description of the perpetrators of the kidnapping. (R. 646)

3d DCA 1968), <u>cert. denied</u> 393 U.S. 981 (1968). Appellant provided no basis for further inquiry by the trial court. The fact that Appellant was, at this juncture of the trial, representing himself did not entitle him to special consideration. <u>United States v. Chaney</u>, 662 F.2d 1148 (5th Cir. Unit B 1981); <u>Birl v. Estelle</u>, 660 F.2d 592 (5th Cir. 1981). Appellant was properly required to comply with relevant rules of procedural and substantive law. <u>Id</u>. at 660 F.2d 593. In summary, the trial court did not err in refusing Appellant's request to reopen his case because Appellant failed to demonstrate a valid reason for granting his request. Appellent's argument on this point must fail.

ISSUE VII - SENTENCING

ARGUMENT I

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN FAILING TO CONTINUE THE SENTENCING PORTION OF APPEL-LANT'S TRIAL OR IN NOT APPOINTING NEW COUNSEL.

Under our system of jurisprudence a criminal defendant is entitled to be represented by counsel before he can be convicted. Gideon v. Wainwright, 372 U.S. 355, 83 S.Ct. 792, 9 L.Ed.2d 799 (1963) and Argersinger v. Hamlin, 407 U.S. 25, 98 S.Ct. 2006, 32 L.Ed. 530 (1972). One part of a defendant's Sixth Amendment right to assistance of counsel is the right to secure counsel of one's choosing. Powell v. Alabama, 287 U.S. 45, 53 S.Ct. 55, 77 L.Ed. 158 (1932) and Crooker v. California, 357 U.S. 433, 78 S.Ct. 1287, 2 L.Ed.2d 1448 (1958). However, the right to counsel of one's own choice is not an absolute right. Gandy v. State of Alabama, 569 F.2d 1318 (5th Cir. 1978). The right to counsel of one's choice cannot be insisted on in a way that will obstruct orderly judicial procedure and deprive courts of the exercise of their inherent powers to control the administration of justice. United States v. Burton, 584 F.2d 485 (D.C. Cir. 1978) and United States v. Gipson, 695 F.2d 109 (11th Cir. 1982), cert. denied 75 L.Ed.2d 455 (1983).

Sub judice, Appellant had counsel, Mr. McDonnell to represent him during the guilt portion of the trial. After the defense rested, Appellant sought to discharge his attorney. (R1066)

-16-

Appellant was informed he had to either proceed with new counsel or represent himself; he insisted he no longer wanted Mr. McDonnell. (R 1068, 1073) The closing argument was done by Appellant, and despite protestations that he would not use Mr. McDonnell, Appellant conferred with counsel during the argument. (R 1124) Mr. McDonnell also, at Appellant's request, had objections to the jury instructions. (R 1147)

After the guilty verdict on Friday, Appellant was told the sentencing hearing would be held on the following Monday. (R 1151) The court urged the defendant to utilize Mr. McDopnnell's services and court was recessed with Appellant giving the impression he would use Mr. McDonnell in the penalty phase. (R 1151-1152) However, Appellant did not want the services of Mr. McDonnell and asked other counsel be appointed. (R 1161-1162)

The defendant knew the sentencing hearing would be on Monday and did not arrange to have his own attorney. The trial judge offered him the services of the Public Defender, more particularly an assistant who was intimately familiar with Appellant's case. (R 1163-1166 Mr. Osteen's services were also refused. Instead, Appellant made the following obstructionist statement:

> THE DEFENDANT: No sir. Your Honor, this trial is nothing but political motives. I refuse to be a stepping stone for you and Mr. Neil and I request to be sent back to my penthouse apartment back over in the jail, please, because I don't intend to participate any further in this kangaroo court. (R 1166)

> > -17-

Notwithstanding this statement, the court had the Public Defender, Mr. Osteen, available to assist the defendant. (R 1175)

Appellant had from Friday to Monday to obtain private counsel of his choosing to represent him at the sentencing hearing. When he did not, the court offered him the public defender and made Mr. Osteen available for conferences. The trial court did its utmost to protect Appellant's rights. The fact that Appellant chose to obstruct and thwart the ends of justice does not demonstrate error in the trial court's denial of a continuance.

ARGUMENT II

THERE WAS NO ERROR IN THE INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE, ARGUMENT OR JURY INSTRUCTION CONCERNING APPELLANT'S CON-VICTION FOR AGGRAVATED ASSAULT.

For the sake of brevity and clarity and to avoid needless repitition, the three issues raised on this point will be argued together in this brief.

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